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BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT, BRENT DARNELL


Brent Darnell (“Darnell”), by counsel, pursuant to Rule 28 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure and Rule 28 of the Circuit Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, respectfully submits the following Brief of Appellant challenging the granting of Defendant, Thermafiber, Inc.’s (“Thermafiber”) motion for summary judgment in the proceedings below.

I.

APPELLANT’S JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT


The district court’s jurisdiction in this case was based on a federal question pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331.  Darnell alleges that Thermafiber, a Delaware corporation principally located in Indiana, improperly rescinded an offer of employment to him because Thermafiber regarded him as disabled in violation of Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101, et seq. (“ADA”).


The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit has appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1291.  On April 5, 2004, the district court granted Thermafiber’s motion for summary judgment and entered judgment in favor of Thermafiber on April 7, 2004.  This was a final judgment. Darnell’s Notice of Appeal was filed on May 3, 2004.  No further claims or issues remain for disposition in the district court, and no related appeal is pending or expected in any United States Court of Appeals.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

.

1.
Whether Thermafiber met its burden of proving its affirmative defense that Darnell posed a direct threat to the health or safety of himself and his co-workers when Thermafiber rejected Darnell’s application for reemployment.

2.
Whether the opinion of James P. McCann, M.D. was based on an individualized assessment of Darnell that was the product of reasonable medical judgment and based on medical and/or objective evidence.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE


On September 18, 2002, Darnell filed a Complaint to recover damages from his former and prospective employer, Thermafiber, alleging violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.  Darnell alleges that Thermafiber regarded him as having a physical impairment (Type 1 diabetes mellitus treated with insulin) that substantially limited one or more of his major life activities.   When Darnell applied for reemployment at Thermafiber, after previously working for the company for nearly a year, the company refused to hire him expressly because of his diabetes.  Darnell also alleges that Thermafiber’s claim that he posed a direct threat to himself and others was without legal justification.


Thermafiber filed a motion for summary judgment contending that Darnell could not establish a prima facie case of discrimination because his diabetes was “uncontrolled” at the time of the pre-employment physical examination.  Thermafiber decided that Darnell posed a direct threat to the safety of himself and others at the plant based solely on the report of its company doctor that his diabetes was “uncontrolled”.


The district court granted Thermafiber’s motion for summary judgment on April 5, 2004, finding that Thermafiber had proved its direct threat affirmative defense as a matter of law because Darnell’s “uncontrolled” diabetes would pose a significant risk to the safety or health of Darnell and his co-workers at Thermafiber’s plant.  The district court entered final judgment in this case on April 7, 2004.  Darnell initiated a timely appeal of the district court’s grant of summary judgment by filing a Notice of Appeal on May 3, 2004.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Diabetes mellitus is “a disease of glucose metabolism where the body is unable to use glucose for energy.”  Appendix, p. 0324 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 8, ln. 16-17).  There are two types of diabetes:  Type 1 diabetes (formerly known as juvenile diabetes) in which the insulin-producing cells of the pancreas are destroyed, so that the body cannot produce insulin, and Type 2 diabetes (formerly known as adult onset diabetes), in which the body develops a resistance to the effects of insulin.  See Appendix, p. 0173 (Levine Depo., pp. 12, ln. 23-25 and 13, ln. 1-7).  In both types of diabetes, the body’s inability to make or properly use insulin results in higher than normal blood glucose (also called blood sugar) levels.

In the last 25 years, diabetes care has improved with the development of new types of insulin, better methods for monitoring and determining glucose control, and newer ways to deliver and administer insulin to the patient.  Appendix, p. 0325 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 9, ln. 13-23).  These improvements, however, are not a cure for diabetes.  Approximately ten to fifteen percent of all diabetic patients have insulin-dependent (Type 1) diabetes.  Appendix, p. 0324 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 6, ln. 24-25 and 7, ln. 1-5).  The disease affects many parts of the body including, but not limited to, eyes, heart, lungs, brain, liver, kidneys, vascular system and reproductive system.  Appendix, pp. 0324, 0325 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 8, ln. 21-25 and 9, ln. 1-12).    Some of the chronic complications that may arise are vision problems, circulatory problems and neurological problems.  See Appendix, p. 0329 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 25, ln. 15-19).   

When the blood glucose levels of a person with diabetes are not in the normal range, that person is said to be experiencing either hypoglycemia (low blood sugar) or hyperglycemia (high blood sugar).  Hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia are different conditions which have different symptoms and effects on the body.  See Appendix, pp. 0146 (McCann Depo., pp. 18, ln. 22-25 and 19, ln. 1-9) and 0332 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 37, ln. 10-25).  For example, a person with diabetes is more likely to lose consciousness when experiencing hypoglycemia.  Appendix, p. 0146 (McCann Depo., p. 19, ln. 20-23).  However, unconsciousness, whether from hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia, does not generally occur suddenly.  Appendix, p. 0175 (Levine Depo., p. 23, ln. 11-13).  Some people with diabetes are able to recognize the symptoms of an oncoming hypoglycemic episode, while others have less such ability.  Appendix, p. 0325 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 10, ln. 10-19 and 11, ln. 1-11).

Darnell is 24 years old and has Type 1 diabetes, which was first diagnosed when he was 15 years old.  Appendix, pp. 0024 (Darnell Depo., pp. 6, ln. 21-25 and 7, ln. 1-4), 0065, 0173 (Levine Depo., pp. 14, ln. 23-25 and 15, ln. 1-4), and 0217.  He regularly monitors his blood glucose and takes injections of insulin twice per day.  Appendix, p. 0024 (Darnell Depo., p. 7, ln. 9-13).  Darnell has never had any chronic complications of diabetes, and he had no subjective complaints or symptoms related to diabetes when Thermafiber made its employment decision.  Appendix, pp. 0188, 0189 (Levine Depo., pp. 76, ln. 14-17; 77, ln. 4-7; and 78, ln. 3-8), 0248 (¶60), 0256 (¶¶115-117), and 0329 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 25, ln. 12-14, 24-25; and 26, ln. 1-2).  Since he was diagnosed with diabetes, Darnell has never had an incapacitating hypoglycemic (low blood sugar) episode.  Appendix, pp. 0164, 0165, 0244 (¶¶ 29-30), 0251 (¶82), 0332 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 38, ln. 2-6), 0345, and 0346.  Darnell’s ability to perform physical tasks and make judgments has not been impaired by his diabetes [Appendix, pp. 0199 (Levine Depo., p. 119, ln. 5-8), 0250 (¶¶78-79), and 0340 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 69, ln. 9-17)]; nor has he had driving restrictions or work accidents because of his diabetes [Appendix, pp. 0250 (¶77), and 0331 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 35, ln. 15-20)].  Darnell has never felt dazed, confused, or dehydrated due to diabetes.  Appendix, pp. 0251 (¶83), and 0332 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 38, ln. 8-18).  Darnell is able to recognize symptoms of low blood glucose and is able to take action to prevent a serious hypoglycemic episode. Appendix, p. 0044 (Darnell Depo., p. 87, ln. 5-11).  John O. Levine, M.D., Darnell’s treating physician for three years, confirmed that during that time the fluctuations in Darnell’s blood glucose have never resulted in loss of consciousness, impaired cognition, impaired judgment or impaired functioning. Appendix, pp. 0188 (Levine Depo., pp. 76, ln. 14-25 and 77, ln. 1-7), and 0256 (¶115).  


Thermafiber manufactures mineral wool insulation at its facility in Wabash, Indiana.  Appendix, pp. 0012 (¶3), and 0020 (¶3).  Darnell first began working at Thermafiber through a temporary employment agency in the summer of 2000.  Appendix, pp. 0025 (Darnell Depo., p. 10, ln. 12-17), 0240 (¶4), and 0269 (¶11).  He told several people at Thermafiber, including his supervisor, foreman and plant manager, that he had diabetes.  Appendix, p. 0027 (Darnell Depo., pp. 17, ln. 20-25 and 18, ln. 1-6).  In October 2000, Darnell applied for full-time employment at Thermafiber in a position called “Operator 1.”  Appendix, pp. 0025 (Darnell Depo, pp. 10, ln. 25 and 11, ln. 1-5), 0241 (¶5), 0269 (¶12), 0280 (¶8), and 0289.  Thermafiber knew that Darnell was being followed by a physician for his diabetes.  Appendix, pp. 0056, and 0270 (¶16).  Darnell was given a pre-employment physical in October 2000 and was deemed capable of performing the physical requirements of the job.  Appendix, pp. 0054-0057, and 0241 (¶9).

Darnell worked for Thermafiber as a full-time employee from October 2000 to May 2001.  Appendix, pp. 0039 (Darnell Depo., p. 66, ln. 12-15), 0241 (¶10), and 0270 (¶18).  During that time, Darnell performed physical labor for Thermafiber in a hot working environment without suffering any ill-effects from his diabetes.  Appendix, pp. 0046 (Darnell Depo., p. 94, ln. 9-15), 0128 (Barrus Depo., p. 25, ln. 15-20), 0146 (McCann Depo., p. 17, ln. 13-16), and 0241 (¶11).  There were times when he was permitted to take short breaks to eat when his sugar was low or to inject insulin as needed.  Appendix, pp. 0027 (Darnell Depo., p. 20, ln. 4-25), and 0241 (¶10).   (Reasonable employment accommodations for people with diabetes include providing them with an opportunity to monitor their glucose levels during the workday, to eat meals at regular times, and to have access to a sugar source if they have low blood glucose.  Appendix, pp. 0325, and 0331 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 10, ln. 12-14 and 34, ln. 1-4).)  On or about May 9, 2001, Darnell voluntarily terminated his employment with Thermafiber to pursue another job opportunity.  Appendix, pp. 0025 (Darnell Depo., pp. 11, ln. 20-25 and 12, ln. 1-4), 0241 (¶12), and 0271 (¶19).   On Darnell’s exit sheet, Thermafiber recommended him for rehire. Appendix, pp. 0130 (Barrus Depo., p. 27, ln. 2-6), and 0241 (¶12).  Darnell went to work for Target Technical Service, a company that constructs factories in the United States. Appendix, pp. 0242 (¶13), and 0309. Darnell’s job took him to Hattiesburg, Mississippi, where he performed difficult physical labor in the hot sun.  The Mississippi heat never caused Darnell to experience a diabetic episode or pass out.  Appendix, pp. 0042, 0046 (Darnell Depo., pp. 77, ln. 15-25; 78, ln. 1-12; and 94, ln. 16-18), and 0242 (¶14-15).

Darnell returned to Indiana in August 2001 and went back to Thermafiber seeking work in a position called “Operator 2.”
  Appendix, pp. 0031 (Darnell Depo., p. 33, ln. 10-18), 0242 (¶16), and 0271 (¶20).  Thermafiber made an offer of employment to Darnell.   The offer was conditioned, once again, upon Darnell’s ability to pass a pre-employment physical.  Appendix, pp. 0118 (Barrus Depo., p. 15, ln. 12-25), 0242 (¶17), and 0281 (¶9).


On August 9, 2001, Thermafiber’s company doctor, James P. McCann, M.D. (who is a general practitioner, not an endocrinologist), conducted Darnell’s pre-employment physical.  Appendix, pp. 0142 (McCann Depo., p. 3, ln. 9-16), 0244 (¶27), and 0345 (¶1).  Before meeting with Dr. McCann, Darnell filled out a medical history sheet containing general questions about his past medical history and current medical status.  Appendix, pp. 0164, 0244 (¶28), and 0345 (¶2).  Darnell disclosed to Dr. McCann that he was under a doctor’s care for his diabetes,
 he was presently taking insulin, he had never been hospitalized, he had never passed out or been dizzy during exercise, he had never been dizzy or passed out in the heat, and he did not have a history of fainting or seizures.  Appendix, pp. 0164, 0165, 0244 (¶¶ 29-30), and 0345 (¶ 2).


Darnell’s appointment with Dr. McCann lasted 10 to 15 minutes.  Appendix, pp. 0154 (McCann Depo., p. 51, ln. 2-4), 0245 (¶ 34), and 0345 (¶ 3).    Dr. McCann did not ask for, or review, Darnell’s medical chart or check Darnell’s blood glucose level by way of a blood test.  Appendix, pp. 0144, 0150 (McCann Depo., pp. 12, ln. 12-14; 13, ln. 7-16; and 33, ln. 7-11), and 0245 (¶¶ 37, 40).  The only test related to diabetes that Dr. McCann performed was a urine glucose test.
  Dr. McCann said Thermafiber did not ask him, or pay him, to do any further tests; and he testified that he did not intend to “baby-sit this guy” by obtaining his chart.  Appendix, pp. 0149, 0150 (McCann Depo. pp. 31, ln. 10-12; 33, ln. 11; and 34, ln. 2-4), and 0245 (¶¶ 39-41).  He did not know the last time Darnell had been given an A1C test (a blood test to measure average blood sugar levels over the previous three month period); consequently, he did not know if Darnell’s hemoglobin A1C levels were improving or getting worse.  Appendix, pp. 0146 (McCann Depo., p. 17, ln. 11-12), 0245 (¶ 38), and 0333 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 42, ln. 23-25 and 43, ln. 1-2).  Dr. McCann asked nothing about Darnell’s past employment history, and knew nothing of Darnell’s previous successful employment with Thermafiber.  Appendix, pp. 0044 (Darnell Depo., pp. 87, ln. 22-25 and 88, ln. 1-4), 0149 (McCann Depo., p. 29, ln. 16-21), 0246 (¶ 46), and 0346 (¶ 10).  Dr. McCann did ask Darnell if he had been passing out, if he had been having low blood sugars, or if he had any problems with his vision. Appendix, pp. 0144 (McCann Depo., p. 11, ln. 15-21), 0245 (¶ 35), 0345 (¶¶ 4-5), and 0346 (¶ 7).  Darnell answered no to all three of these questions.  Id.  When Dr. McCann asked him when he had last seen his doctor, Darnell told him he had seen him about four months before.
  See Id. and Appendix, p. 0346 (¶ 6).  (Dr. McCann did not consult with either Darnell’s treating physician or an endocrinologist before deciding that Darnell was unqualified.)   Appendix, pp. 0193 (Levine Depo., p. 96, ln. 1-7), 0247 (¶ 49), and 0328 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 24, ln. 12-17).  


Dr. McCann admits that the best and most accurate way to assess Darnell’s ability to perform the functions of the Thermafiber job being sought would be to watch Darnell perform those functions; yet Dr. McCann not only failed to observe Darnell perform any of the physical activities listed by Thermafiber as essential physical requirements of the job, he never even asked about Darnell’s ability to perform the functions of the job he sought.  Appendix, pp. 0147, 0148 (McCann Depo., pp. 23, ln. 3-25; 24, ln. 1-23; 26, ln. 5-22; and 27, ln. 3-25), 0246 (¶¶ 47-48), and 0346 (¶¶ 9, 11).   

Dr. McCann admits that Darnell can do everything on Thermafiber’s list of physical requirements; yet, on the company’s boilerplate physical examination form, Dr. McCann indicates that Darnell is not capable of performing the physical requirements of the job because of “uncontrolled” diabetes mellitus. Appendix, pp. 0148 (McCann Depo., p. 28, ln. 1-4), 0166, and 0247 (¶ 54).  


Dr. McCann acknowledges that Darnell’s risk of passing out and causing injury to himself or others at Thermafiber was not imminent.  Appendix, pp. 0152 (McCann Depo., p. 42, ln. 16-20), and 0247 (¶ 50).  He was not even willing to characterize the likelihood of Darnell passing out at work as “strong.”  Appendix, pp. 0152 (McCann Depo., p. 42, ln. 21-24), and 0247 (¶ 51).  Although he claims he was concerned about Darnell’s judgment and level of alertness, Dr. McCann did not test Darnell’s decision-making ability, or his reaction time, or his reflexes; Darnell’s judgment or level of alertness has never been impaired.  Appendix, pp. 0152, 0154 (McCann Depo., pp. 44, ln. 22-24 and 51, ln. 21-23), 0247 (¶ 52), and 0346 (¶ 12).


Thermafiber made the decision to rescind its conditional offer of employment following notice by Dr. McCann that Darnell had failed to pass the pre-employment physical.  Appendix, pp. 0047 (Darnell Depo., p. 97, ln. 5-8), 0112 (Barrus Depo., p. 9, ln. 13-14), 0136, 0243 (¶ 22), 0272 (¶ 25), and 0280 (¶ 6).  The Human Resources Manager, Diane Barrus (“Barrus”), discussed the results of Darnell’s physical examination with the Plant Manager, David Holston, and made the decision that it would not be safe for Darnell to be around machinery.  Appendix, pp. 0125, 0126 (Barrus Depo., pp. 22, ln. 21-25 and 23, ln. 1-6), and 0243 (¶ 23).  Barrus claims she did not want to hire an employee who might go into diabetic shock or pass-out and fall into a machine, but she did not discuss with Dr. McCann or his staff any medical facts that might have formed the basis for the doctor’s opinion. Appendix, pp. 0125, 0127 (Barrus Depo., pp. 22, ln. 8-14 and 24, ln. 1-10), 0153 (McCann Depo., p. 47, ln. 6-25), and 0243 (¶ 24).  Neither Barrus nor anyone else at Thermafiber attempted to gather any further information about Darnell’s diabetes or the safety risk it might pose, apart from Dr. McCann’s conclusion.  Barrus informed Darnell of her decision during the week of August 13, 2001.
  Appendix, pp. 0244 (¶ 25), and 0280 (¶ 7).  




In the court below, in addition to Dr. McCann, Thermafiber presented the testimony of John J. Cavanaugh, M.D.
 In performing a risk assessment examination of a patient with diabetes who wants to work in a factory, Dr. Cavanaugh said he would want to know, at a minimum, the patient’s hemoglobin A1C test results, whether the patient had any cardiovascular or neurological complications from diabetes, and whether the patient could perform the listed job tasks.  Appendix, pp. 0253 (¶97), and 0338 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 63, ln. 6-19).  An assessment of risk would involve an assessment of both the probability of an occurrence and the magnitude of the harm.  Appendix, pp. 0253 (¶ 99), and 0341 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 73, ln. 13-16).  

Dr. Cavanaugh admits that, if he had been asked to perform Darnell’s pre-employment physical, he would have reviewed Darnell’s medical chart and glucose monitoring history, taken Darnell’s current A1C, reviewed his previous A1C history, and asked whether Darnell had any problems with hypoglycemia.   Appendix, pp. 0251 (¶ 85), 0253 (¶ 95), 0334, and 0338 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 46, ln. 14-25; 47, ln. 1-15; 62, ln. 16-25; and 63, ln. 1-5).  Dr. Cavanaugh would have asked Darnell to perform some of the physical tasks required by the job he was seeking so he could evaluate Darnell’s ability to handle the tasks, and he would have asked Darnell about his prior work history in a similar type of environment.  Appendix, pp. 0253 (¶¶ 95-96), and 0338 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 62, ln. 24-25 and 63, ln. 1-5).

Dr. Cavanaugh believed Darnell could have performed the physical requirements of the job at Thermafiber with reasonable accommodation, such as being able to monitor his glucose level at work and having access to some type of sugar source if his blood sugar should go low.  Appendix, pp. 0250 (¶ 74), and 0331 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 33, ln. 18-25 and 34, ln. 1-4).  Dr. Cavanaugh could not say that Darnell was a significant risk for serious injury at Thermafiber, nor was he able or willing to predict the probability of substantial harm happening to Darnell if he had taken the job at Thermafiber.  Appendix, pp. 0250 (¶ 76), 0251 (¶¶ 84, 89), 0331, 0332, and 0335 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 35, ln. 2-9; 40, ln. 13-20; and 51, ln. 7-12).

Dr. McCann was apparently concerned that the temperatures in the Thermafiber plant would increase the safety risk posed by Darnell.  Appendix, pp. 0149, 0150 (McCann Depo. pp. 31, ln. 16-25; 32, ln. 1-2; and 36, ln. 3-5), 0164-0166, 0251 (¶ 88), and 0335 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 50, ln. 1-11).  However, Thermafiber does not list an ability to tolerate high temperatures as a job prerequisite on its physical requirements form.  Id.  There is no indication in Dr. McCann’s medical report to Thermafiber that he had any concerns about the effect of high temperatures on Darnell’s ability to handle the duties at Thermafiber.  Id.  According to Dr. Cavanaugh, diabetes does not have the same effect on each person who has the disease, and the ability to perform physical labor in high temperatures for long periods of time varies from person to person.  Appendix, pp. 0252 (¶ 90), 0335, and 0336 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 52, ln. 14-25 and 53, ln. 1-10).  Darnell had experience working in high temperatures, both at Thermafiber and at the job in Mississippi.  Appendix, pp. 0046 (Darnell Depo., p. 94, ln. 9-18), 0241 (¶ 11), and 0242 (¶ 15).   Darnell had never had a problem due to high temperatures or dehydration; and there is no evidence that he would be at significant risk of such problems if he returned to Thermafiber.  Appendix, pp. 0164, 0197 (Levine Depo., p. 112, ln. 7-12), 0244 (¶ 29), 0260 (¶ 140), 0345 (¶ 2), and 0346 (¶ 15).   


Thermafiber claimed that several pieces of data from Darnell’s medical records supported Dr. McCann’s conclusion that Darnell posed a significant risk, including two A1C test results and the urine glucose test conducted on August 9, 2001.  See, e.g., Appendix, pp. 0164-0166, 0183 (Levine Depo., p. 56, ln. 10-11), and 0221.    However, a person can have fluctuations in blood sugar or A1C levels without showing symptoms of hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia that affect job performance.  Appendix, pp. 0254 (¶¶ 105-107), and 0342 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 77, ln. 3-25 and 78, ln. 1-4).  Merely because a person has some variation in his A1C levels does not mean he is a substantial risk to himself or others, or that he will develop complications or exhibit symptoms in the future.  Id.  Dr. Cavanaugh has had dozens of patients with diabetes who have had difficulty controlling their A1C levels, but were not imminent threats to others or themselves.  Id.  He has seen such patients function normally for years without complications.  Id.  Dr. Cavanaugh admits that Darnell could do fine at Thermafiber despite his past A1C level.  Id.


Darnell presented the testimony of his personal physician, Dr. Levine, who believes it would not be dangerous for Darnell to work at Thermafiber because Darnell is young and otherwise in good health, and because Darnell has no history of diabetes-related problems such as passing out.  Appendix, pp. 0182, 0194 (Levine Depo., pp. 52, ln. 7-15 and 100, ln. 6-9, 17-21), and 0255 (¶ 111).  Dr. Levine would not have excluded Darnell from employment at Thermafiber unless Darnell had shown repeated episodes of unconsciousness, coma, frequent trips to the hospital, ketoacidosis, or any one of a variety of complicating factors experienced by a person with diabetes.  Appendix, pp. 0189 (Levine Depo., p. 78, ln. 3-8), and 0256 (¶ 117).  Darnell has no history of any such factors.  Id.


 Dr. Levine could not have predicted with any degree of certainty, on the basis of the limited medical evidence considered by Dr. McCann, whether Darnell would have fainted or passed out on the job at Thermafiber.  See Appendix, pp. 0197 (Levine Depo., pp. 111, ln. 9-25 and 112, ln. 1-6), 0259, and 0260 (¶¶ 138-139).  If Dr. McCann had concerns, Dr. Levine feels he should have tested Darnell’s functional capacity or given Darnell a test trial period on the job.  Appendix, pp. 0192 (Levine Depo., p. 92, ln. 1-19), and 0257 (¶ 122).  Such tests would have demonstrated whether Darnell was able to carry out the tasks in the Thermafiber job description and whether his health was impaired by the work.  Id.  Rather than render a medical opinion based primarily on a urine glucose test or the patient’s perceived attitude, Dr. McCann should have determined if Darnell could actually do the job.  Id.  The types of risk Darnell would have faced at Thermafiber were no more significant than the types of risk any other individual working at Thermafiber would have faced; and Dr. Levine does not believe Darnell would have been a direct threat to his safety or the safety of others if he had gone to work at Thermafiber in August of 2001.  Appendix, pp. 0193, 0194, 0197 (Levine Depo., pp. 96, ln. 19-25; 97, ln. 1; and 112, ln. 7-12), 0257 (¶ 123), and 0260 (¶ 140).

On August 22, 2001 (only 13 days after Dr. McCann’s physical examination), Dr. Levine examined Darnell and found his diabetes to be under fair control as shown by an A1C test.
  Appendix, pp. 0194 (Levine Depo., p. 97, ln. 2-20), 0220, 0221, and 0257 (¶ 124).  Darnell did not have any outward complications of diabetes, or any other indication that he would have a disabling episode while working at Thermafiber.  Appendix, pp. 0194, 0196 (Levine Depo., pp. 100, ln. 6-9 and 108, ln. 19-23), and 0258 (¶ 128).  Dr. Levine noted that Darnell could avoid any problem of dehydration attributable to high temperatures by consuming adequate fluids.  Appendix, pp. 0194 (Levine Depo., p. 100, ln. 10-16), and 0258 (¶129).  In Dr. Levine’s opinion, Dr. McCann’s decision to reject Darnell for employment was based on “prediction” rather than objective medical data.  Appendix, pp. 0195 (Levine Depo., pp. 103, ln. 19-25 and 104, ln. 1-11), and 0258 (¶¶ 132-134).  It is not appropriate for a medical doctor to rely on a prediction – he must have consistent objective measures.  Id.  Objective measures are findings based on physical examination and laboratory evaluations including glucose, A1C, microalbumin and other tests related to diabetes and its complications.  Id.

V.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Americans with Disabilities Act requires that an employer make an individualized assessment of an applicant and the position sought.  In the case of an applicant who has diabetes, an evaluation of his present ability to perform the essential functions of the job, based on objective evidence rather than generalizations or stereotypes, is of paramount importance.  Diabetes is a disease that has, or may have, a wide variety of symptoms and complications involving one or more bodily systems.  However, it does not have the same effect to the same extent on every person with the disease.  


Thermafiber was entitled to reject Darnell’s application only if it could prove that he posed a “direct threat”, or a significant risk of injury to himself or others.  (See infra, pp. 22-23.)   In order to obtain summary judgment on its direct threat affirmative defense, Thermafiber had to prove it as a matter of law.  (See infra, p. 23 n. 8.)  This it did not, and could not do.  Thermafiber failed to introduce evidence sufficient to prove that Darnell posed a direct threat to safety.  The district court erroneously relied on the fact that Dr. McCann characterized Darnell’s diabetes as “uncontrolled”.  It is simply not true as a matter of law that, because Darnell’s diabetes was deemed to be “uncontrolled,” he posed a significant risk of causing injury to himself or others because of his diabetes.  The medical evidence cited by Thermafiber is insufficient to demonstrate that Darnell poses a significant risk, and much of it is irrelevant to that issue.  Thermafiber’s concerns about the effect of the factory’s working environment, and particularly high temperatures, on Darnell’s diabetes are mere speculation and are contradicted by Darnell’s own work history.   Even if concerns about Darnell’s safety in a hot environment were legitimate, these concerns could have been alleviated through accommodations such as allowing him frequent opportunities to drink water.  
Regardless of the weight the district court gave to Thermafiber’s evidence, Darnell has produced sufficient uncontroverted evidence to raise a genuine issue of fact as to whether he posed a direct threat.  (See discussion infra, part VI. C.)  The facts in Darnell’s medical history and records show that he is a physically fit young man with no history of complications related to diabetes.  He has never exhibited symptoms of unconsciousness, dizziness, blurred vision, impaired motor skills, impaired cognition, dehydration, hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia.  Both before and after Thermafiber made its decision, Darnell worked in high temperatures, used tools, operated machinery, climbed ladders, lifted heavy objects and performed repetitive motions, all without any diabetes-related incident or injury.  He worked at Thermafiber for ten months, ending just three months before the physical in question.  


Dr. McCann failed to perform an adequate individualized assessment of Darnell’s ability to perform the essential functions of his job.  (See discussion infra, part VI. D.) Dr. McCann did not measure Darnell’s current blood glucose level or perform any other diabetes-related tests during a cursory ten to fifteen minute meeting.  He did not assess Darnell’s functional capacities, nor did he ask about Darnell’s prior work history or his ability to perform the type of job he was seeking.  Dr. McCann did not even review Darnell’s medical chart.    Dr. McCann failed to investigate what, if any, physical effects Darnell’s diabetes had on his ability to work at Thermafiber.  After this cursory examination, Dr. McCann made no effort to gather the kinds of information that would have allowed him make an adequate individualized assessment.  The facts establish that Thermafiber unreasonably relied on Dr. McCann’s opinion when it rescinded Darnell’s offer of employment.


The district court erroneously made a factual inference in favor of Thermafiber (the moving party) when the court determined the likelihood of potential harm befalling Darnell at Thermafiber.  

VI.

ARGUMENT

A.

Summary Judgment Standard Of Review.


The Court’s standard of review for evaluating a district court’s order granting summary judgment is well-established.  Tacket v. Delco Remy, a Div. of General Motors Corp., 959 F.2d 650, 652 (7th Cir. 1992); Cameron v. Frances Slocum Bank & Trust Co., 824 F.2d 570, 573 (7th Cir. 1987).  A district court’s grant of summary judgment, and its relation to the record and the controlling law, is reviewed de novo.  Tacket, 959 F.2d at 652.  See also, Ritchie v. Glidden Co., 242 F.3d 713, 720 (7th Cir. 2001), Filippo v. Northern Indiana Public Service Corp., Inc., 141 F.3d  744, 748 (7th Cir. 1998), and Webb v. Clyde L. Choate Mental Health and Development Center, 230 F.3d  991, 997 (7th Cir. 2000).


“A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Cameron, 824 F.2d at 573, citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).  In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals must resolve all doubts against Thermafiber and construe all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to Darnell, the non-moving party.  See Webb, 230 F.3d at 887, Tacket, 959 F.2d at 652, Filippo, 141 F.3d at 748, Ritchie, 242 F.3d at 720, and Cameron, 824 F.2d at 573.  The Court must, therefore, draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in Darnell’s favor.  See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2513, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986); Scott v. Trump Indiana, Inc., 337 F.3d 939, 945 (7th Cir. 2003), cert. denied; Bekker v. Humana Health Plan, Inc., 229 F.3d 662, 669 (7th Cir. 2000), reh. denied.  Courts also may not make credibility determinations or weigh the evidence in resolving a motion for summary judgment.  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255, 106 S. Ct. at 2513; Payne v. Pauley, 337 F.3d 767, 770 (7th Cir. 2003); Betaco, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 32 F.3d 1126, 1138 (7th Cir. 1994).  This Court “…must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party that the jury is not required to believe.”  Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 151, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 2110, 147 L.Ed.2d 105 (2000); Tart v. Illinois Power Co., 366 F.3d 461, 475 (7th Cir. 2004).


Because intent and credibility are crucial issues in employment discrimination cases, the Court of Appeals applies the summary judgment standard “with added rigor.”  Webb, 230 F.3d at 997.  Thermafiber did not meet its burden of establishing that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that Thermafiber is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  See Tacket, 959 F.2d at 652.  Where, as here, there is specific evidence showing genuine issues of material fact that must be resolved by a jury, the Court should reverse a district court’s grant of summary judgment.   See Cameron, 824 F.2d at 573.

B.

The ADA Requires Thermafiber To Perform 

An Individualized Assessment Based On Darnell’s Capabilities, 

Rather Than On Stereotypes And Generalizations.

The Americans with Disabilities Act provides a defense to liability if an individual with a disability poses a “direct threat” to the health or safety of other individuals in the workplace. 42 U.S.C. § 12113(b)  (Appendix, pp. 0383-0384).  The term "direct threat" is defined as “a significant risk to the health or safety of others that cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. § 12111(3) (Appendix, pp. 0380-0382).  A determination that an individual with a disability poses a “direct [health or safety] threat” must be made on a case-by-case basis, through consideration of the following factors: (1) the duration of the risk; (2) the nature and severity of the potential harm; (3) the likelihood that the potential harm will occur; and (4) the imminence of the potential harm.  29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r) (1993)  (Appendix, pp. 0385-0388).  See also, School Bd. of Nassau County, Fla. v. Arline, 480 U.S. 273, 288, 107 S. Ct. 1123, 1131, 94 L.Ed.2d 307 (1987), reh. denied (articulating an identical list of factors to be considered under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act).  “In regard to cases involving risk of future injury, a [defendant’s] perception of the threat of such injury cannot be based on unfounded fears or stereotypes; it must be based on objective evidence.”  Knapp v. Northwestern University, 101 F.3d 473, 486 (7th Cir. 1996), reh. denied, cert. denied.  This individualized inquiry “shall be based on a reasonable medical judgment that relies on the most current medical knowledge and/or on the best available objective evidence.”  29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r).  Relevant evidence in this inquiry includes “input from the individual with a disability, the experience of the individual with a disability in previous similar positions, and opinions of medical doctors … who have experience with the disability involved and/or direct knowledge of the individual with the disability.”  29 C.F.R. Pt. 1630, App. § 1630.2(r).  It is the defendant’s burden to show that the plaintiff posed a direct threat to safety that could not be eliminated by reasonable accommodation.  See Dadian v. Village of Wilmette, 269 F.3d 831, 841 (7th Cir. 2001); Hammel v. Eau Galle Cheese Factory, 2003 WL 21067091 (W.D. Wis.), *11 (Appendix, pp. 0367-0377).  See also, EEOC v. AIC Security Investigations, Ltd., 55 F.3d 1276, 1285 (7th Cir. 1995), reh. denied.
  

The ADA requires that an employer make an individualized determination.  Stevens v. Illinois Dept. of Transp., 210 F.3d 732, 738 (7th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, citing Kimel v. Florida Bd. of Regents, 528 U.S. 62, 87, 120 S. Ct. 631, 647, 145 L.Ed.2d 522 (2000); Weigel v. Target Stores, 122 F.3d 461, 466 (7th Cir. 1997) (The ADA’s “qualified individual” inquiry involves an individualized assessment of the individual and the relevant position.)  The Supreme Court has repeatedly emphasized that individualized assessments, rather than generalizations that tend to treat all people with certain disabilities alike, are at the heart of the inquiry mandated by the ADA.  For example, in Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc., 527 U.S. 471, 119 S. Ct. 2139, 144 L.Ed.2d 450 (1999), the Court held: 

The agency guidelines’ directive that persons be judged in their uncorrected or unmitigated state runs directly counter to the individualized inquiry mandated by the ADA. The agency approach would often require courts and employers to speculate about a person’s condition and would, in many cases, force them to make a disability determination based on general information about how an uncorrected impairment usually affects individuals, rather than on the individual’s actual condition. … Thus, the guidelines approach would create a system in which persons often must be treated as members of a group of people with similar impairments, rather than as individuals.  This is contrary to both the letter and the spirit of the ADA.

Id. at 483-484, 119 S. Ct. at 2147.  See also, Albertson’s, Inc. v. Kirkingburg, 527 U.S. 555, 566, 119 S. Ct. 2162, 2169, 144 L.Ed.2d 518 (1999) (there is a “statutory obligation to determine the existence of disabilities on a case-by-case basis.”); PGA Tour, Inc. v. Martin, 532 U.S. 661, 688, 121 S. Ct. 1879, 1896, 149 L.Ed.2d 904 (2001) (an individualized inquiry is required to determine whether particular modifications to competition rules would be reasonable in individual cases).    

The focus on individualized assessments applies with equal force in the direct threat context.  Such a determination should be highly fact-sensitive, focusing on the present effect of a person’s disability on his ability to perform the essential functions of a given job.  See, e.g., Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Echazabal, 536 U.S. 73, 86, 122 S. Ct. 2045, 2053, 153 L.Ed.2d 82 (2002) (the law requires “a particularized inquiry into the harms the employee would probably face”); Holiday v. City of Chattanooga, 206 F.3d 637, 643 (6th Cir. 2000), reh. denied; and Kapche v. City of San Antonio, 304 F.3d 493, 499 (5th Cir. 2002) (relying on Supreme Court decisions that “consistently point to an individualized assessment mandated by the ADA under various sections of the Act” in overruling prior circuit precedent allowing for blanket bans on people with diabetes from jobs that require driving).  

Where an employer fails to conduct an individualized assessment to determine whether an applicant or employee would pose a direct threat, summary judgment for the employer is inappropriate.  See McKenzie v. Dovala, 242 F.3d 967, 975 (10th Cir. 2001) (“Without an ‘individualized assessment’ of the precise nature and likelihood of the risk stemming from [plaintiff’s] illness, a genuine dispute of material fact remains regarding whether she is qualified to resume a position in the Office where she worked successfully for a decade. 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r).   [Plaintiff] may or may not have had a disqualifying mental condition, but that is a question for a jury to answer with all the available evidence before it.”); Lowe v. Alabama Power Co., 244 F.3d 1305, 1308 (11th Cir. 2001), reh. denied (doctor’s conclusion that employee was unqualified was not justified when based only on a cursory examination of the employee and the doctor’s general experience with other people with the employee’s disability).

Thermafiber claims that its judgment and that of Dr. McCann about Darnell was not motivated by stereotypes or irrational fears, and the district court apparently agreed.  See Memorandum and Order at 17.  Even assuming for the sake of argument that this were true, however, it is irrelevant.

[Defendant’s] argument that it did not rely on stereotypes in assessing [plaintiff’s] condition is beside the point.  While the ADA was passed, in part, to counter stereotypical assumptions about the disabled that result in discrimination, 42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(7) [Appendix, pp. 0378-0379], the mere fact that an employer avoids stereotypes does not satisfy its affirmative obligation to make an assessment based on “the most current medical knowledge and/or the best available objective evidence.”  

Echazabal v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 336 F.3d 1023, 1028 n. 3 (9th Cir. 2003).  Moreover, Thermafiber’s safety concerns are not supported by evidence in the record, and are in fact the product of unfounded fears and stereotypes.  To justify its decision not to hire Darnell, Thermafiber must do more than simply recite a list of bad things that could possibly happen in the future.  See Dipol v. New York City Transit Authority, 999 F. Supp. 309, 316-317 (E.D.N.Y. 1998) (defendant’s assertion that plaintiff, who suffered from diabetes, might be injured on the job because of his diabetes was mere speculation that could not support a finding of direct threat when there was inadequate evidence in the record to support it).  To prevail on a motion for summary judgment Thermafiber must come forward with uncontradicted evidence that there is a significant risk that these events will happen to Darnell because of his diabetes.  As explained below, Thermafiber has not met its burden.

C.

There Is Disputed Evidence In The Record Demonstrating 

That Summary Judgment Is Improper.

1.

Thermafiber’s Evidence That Darnell Poses A Direct Threat 

Is Irrelevant Or Unpersuasive, And Is Insufficient 

To Support Summary Judgment.

There was little, if any, objective evidence in the record to support a finding that Darnell’s diabetes would cause him to pose an unacceptable safety risk at Thermafiber.  There was no evidence of Darnell’s blood glucose level at the time Thermafiber made its employment decision.  There was no evidence Darnell had ever experienced any symptoms of hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia such as loss of consciousness, blurry vision, impaired cognition or impaired motor skills.  Appendix, pp. 0188, 0189 (Levine Depo., pp. 75, ln. 17-25; 76, ln. 1-25; 77, ln. 1-25; and 78, ln. 1-8), and 0256 (¶¶ 115-117).   There was no evidence that Darnell ever had problems working in high temperatures or suffered from dehydration, despite his extensive experience working in such environments.   See Appendix, pp. 0164, 0197 (Levine Depo., p. 112, ln. 7-12), 0244 (¶ 29), 0260 (¶ 140), 0345 (¶ 2), and 0346 (¶ 15).  The evidence Thermafiber did rely on amounted to little more than conclusory statements that Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled” (without any evidentiary basis), and a great deal of generalized concern based on the working conditions at Thermafiber.  See, e.g., Appendix, p. 0149 (McCann Depo., pp. 30, ln. 15-17 and 31, ln. 16-24).

To support its direct threat claim, Thermafiber principally argues that Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled”.  As will be discussed further below, Thermafiber had no evidence of Darnell’s level of “control” when it made its employment decision, and has failed to come forward with substantial evidence to suggest that Darnell was in fact “uncontrolled.”  Nonetheless, the district court accepted Thermafiber’s argument that, because Dr. McCann found Darnell’s diabetes to be “uncontrolled”, Darnell could not safely perform his job at Thermafiber.  It held that Darnell had a burden to come forward with evidence that he was “under control” or that dangerous situations would not occur as a result of his “uncontrolled diabetic condition”.   See Memorandum and Order at 15.  In so holding, the court focused on the wrong issue and did not examine the crucial assumption underlying this conclusion: that the mere fact that Dr. McCann used the term “uncontrolled diabetes” means that Darnell was likely to cause injury to himself or others. This leap of logic has little or no support in the record or medical science.

Dr. McCann appears to have believed that all people with “uncontrolled” diabetes pose significant health and safety risks.  The record shows that this is not true; Thermafiber’s own expert, Dr. Cavanaugh, admitted that he has seen many patients with high A1C levels function normally for years without any significant effect on their physical or mental functioning.  Appendix, pp. 0254 (¶ 106), and 0342 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 77, ln. 16-25).  Rather, Dr. McCann’s conclusion is just the kind of generalization based on membership in a group, without regard to the unique capabilities of the individual, that the ADA was enacted to prevent.  Every person with diabetes has fluctuations in blood glucose levels; readings that are higher or lower than the target range do not by themselves pose a threat to safety in the workplace.  It is only when those abnormal blood glucose levels manifest themselves in impaired functioning or poor job performance that they may become a safety risk.  (The same is true for A1C test results, which represent a rough average of the amount of glucose in the blood over a three month period and have no automatic link to impaired performance.)

The district court, however, failed to make the proper inquiry into whether Darnell’s diabetes, “controlled” or not, actually placed him at increased risk for problems that can be caused by high or low blood glucose, such as loss of consciousness or impaired cognition.  In doing so, the court failed to make an adequate inquiry into “likelihood that the potential harm will occur” as required by the direct threat analysis.  29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r).  

The court treated the term “uncontrolled diabetes” as if it had independent legal significance, which it does not; it does not even have uniform medical significance.  As the record shows, there is no accepted clinical definition of what it means for diabetes to be “uncontrolled”, and different practitioners (including those involved in this case) may employ the term in different ways, or may not use it at all.  In Dr. Levine’s opinion, for example, “uncontrolled” diabetes means that the patient’s hemoglobin A1C level is nowhere near normal, the blood glucose is always very high, the patient has many complications and is frequently being hospitalized.  Appendix, pp. 0190 (Levine Depo., p. 81, ln. 2-6), and 0256 (¶ 118).  Dr. Cavanaugh said he would expect somebody with “uncontrolled” diabetes to have vision problems, circulatory problems, vascular problems and heart problems.  Appendix, pp. 0254 (¶ 103), and 0341 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 74, ln. 16-24).  Dr. McCann, on the other hand, seems to have believed that anyone whose blood glucose or A1C levels were not within the target ranges has “uncontrolled” diabetes.  See Appendix, pp. 0146, 0147, and 0149 (McCann Depo., pp. 20, ln. 16-22; 22, ln. 23-25; 30, ln. 15-25; 31, ln. 1-15; and 32, ln. 10-17).

The question is not whether Darnell’s diabetes is “under control”; rather the question is whether Darnell’s fluctuating blood glucose level, by itself, meant he posed a substantial risk.  There is no evidence that it did, particularly as Darnell has apparently functioned for years, and in similar work situations, with no ill effects.  Appendix, pp. 0046 (Darnell Depo., p. 94, ln. 9-18), 0241 (¶ 11), and 0242 (¶ 15).  In the absence of such evidence, focusing on whether Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled” led the district court to a flawed analysis of the question of whether Darnell posed a direct threat.

Once the inquiry is focused on the correct issue, the evidence that Darnell posed a direct threat boils down to very sparse medical and objective data and very abundant speculation about the “dangers” of Thermafiber’s work environment.  At the time Thermafiber made its decision, the only medical evidence it had was one urine glucose test result.  Dr. McCann admitted that the urine glucose test result had very limited relevance to the issues in this case and did not figure prominently in his decision.
  Even in the court below, all Thermafiber could muster were a few blood glucose and A1C test results, taken at various times over a period of several years.
  None of this evidence proves what Darnell’s blood glucose levels were on the date Dr. McCann examined him.
  What they do show (particularly those taken by Dr. Levine on August 22, 2001 after Thermafiber’s decision (see Appendix, pp. 0220-0221)) is that Darnell’s blood glucose and A1C levels may have been elevated above the target levels but were not so high as to pose significant danger that he would suffer the short term negative effects of hyperglycemia.
  This falls far short of the sort of convincing showing required to sustain summary judgment on Thermafiber’s direct threat claim.

Finally, Thermafiber emphasizes the inherent “dangerousness” of its work environment as a reason to exclude Darnell, and by implication, all people with “uncontrolled” diabetes.  Thermafiber recites a long list of workplace conditions it considers dangerous for Darnell, from excessive temperatures to the presence of large industrial machinery.  See, e.g., Appendix, pp. 0012 (¶ 4), and 0020-0021 (¶¶ 4-5).  What Thermafiber does not do, however, is articulate any evidence for its belief that these conditions are dangerous to Darnell in particular.  Undoubtedly Thermafiber presents more workplace hazards to its employees than the typical office environment.  However, to prevail, Thermafiber needs to show that there is something about Darnell’s diabetes that makes these conditions more dangerous to him than to the average Thermafiber worker.  Without evidence that Darnell’s diabetes is likely to cause safety problems on the job, Thermafiber cannot meet this burden.

Dr. McCann expressed particular concern about the temperatures in Thermafiber’s plant.  He suggests in his deposition that he might have qualified Darnell to work if temperatures in the factory were lower (for example, if the factory were air conditioned).  Appendix, p. 0151 (McCann Depo., p. 37, ln. 3-5).
   However, neither Dr. McCann nor Thermafiber has presented any evidence that the high temperatures cause Darnell to pose a safety risk, beyond vague assertions that he might become dehydrated more easily because of his diabetes.  In fact, Darnell has never become dehydrated because of his diabetes, despite working in Thermafiber’s factory and in other hot environments.  Appendix, pp. 0164, 0197 (Levine Depo., p. 112, ln. 7-12), 0244 (¶ 29), 0260 (¶140), 0345 (¶ 2), and 0346 (¶ 15).   To suggest that he would not be able to handle these same temperatures if he were re-employed, and that this would somehow lead to a risk of harm, is mere speculation unsupported by evidence.


Moreover, there is no evidence that Dr. McCann or Thermafiber explored the possibility of making reasonable accommodations for Darnell to allow him to tolerate these temperatures.  An employer must consider altering its normal work rules, facilities, terms and conditions in order to enable a person with a disability to work.  Beck v. University of Wisconsin Bd. of Regents, 75 F.3d 1130, 1135 (7th Cir. 1996).
  There are accommodations that could have addressed any concerns Dr. McCann raised about the effect of high temperatures on Darnell that were not explored by Thermafiber.  If Thermafiber was concerned that Darnell might become dehydrated more easily, the most obvious accommodation would have been to allow him to take frequent water breaks and to take breaks in a cooled area whenever needed.
  See Appendix, pp. 0194 (Levine Depo., p. 100, ln. 10-16), and 0258 (¶ 129).   Thus, even if Thermafiber’s concerns about the effect of heat on Darnell were supported by objective evidence, there is no evidence that these concerns could not have been accommodated.

Despite Thermafiber’s failure to come forward with any credible, objective evidence that Darnell’s diabetes posed a significant risk to the health or safety of himself or others, the district court concluded that Thermafiber had proved as a matter of law that Darnell posed just such a risk.  The court concluded that it “appear[ed] likely” that harm (e.g., a loss of consciousness or impaired mental acuity) could occur at any time and compared Darnell to “a walking time bomb.”   See Memorandum and Order at 17.
  These statements amount to mere speculation by the district court.  Neither Dr. McCann nor Dr. Cavanaugh made any attempt to quantify the likelihood that Darnell would have a disabling episode if he had gone to work at Thermafiber.  Appendix, pp. 0152 (McCann Depo., p. 42, ln. 7-10, 16-19), 0247 (¶ 50-51), 0250 (¶ 81), 0331, and 0332 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 36, ln. 4-8 and 40, ln. 13-20).   Dr. McCann himself said the risk of harm was not imminent. Appendix, p. 0152 (McCann Depo., p. 42, ln. 16-19), and 0247 (¶ 50).   


In concluding that Darnell was “likely” to be a “walking time bomb”, the district court relied heavily on Turco v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 101 F.3d 1090 (5th Cir. 1996), reh. denied.  The court’s reliance is misplaced, however, because the plaintiff in Turco had a history of ignoring company policies and procedures while working with dangerous chemicals and he had had a number of diabetes-related incidents on the job including impaired concentration, leg pain, confusion and disorientation.  There was indeed evidence in that case to suggest that Mr. Turco was at very high risk of causing injury.  None of that evidence, however, is present in Darnell’s case.  The differences between these two cases demonstrate the importance of carefully evaluating the capabilities and limitations of the individual when conducting the direct threat inquiry, something both Thermafiber and the district court failed to do.


A much better analogy is found in EEOC v. Chrysler Corp., where the district court, considering facts similar to those in this case, concluded that there was not sufficient evidence that the plaintiff posed a direct threat.  917 F. Supp. 1164 (E.D. Mich. 1996), rev’d on other grounds, 172 F.3d 48 (6th Cir. 1998).  In that case, Chrysler revoked a job offer to a person with diabetes based primarily on its claim that the results of three blood sugar tests showed that the plaintiff posed an unacceptable safety risk.  Chrysler, 917 F. Supp. at 1170, 1171.  Like Thermafiber, Chrysler made some “ominous predictions” that the plaintiff could fall from an elevated place and that he and others could be injured by heavy equipment or by “…any number of unforeseen dangerous circumstances…”.  Id. at 1171.  However, the district court determined that, because the plaintiff had never experienced any problems performing at work due to his diabetes, Chrysler had no evidence to support its assertion that the plaintiff posed a direct threat.  Id. at 1170, 1171.  Chrysler’s doctor agreed that, other than his blood glucose level, the plaintiff exhibited no indication that he would pose an imminent risk of injuring himself.  Id. at 1172.  The court concluded that these three blood glucose tests were not sufficient to support a determination that the plaintiff posed a direct threat.  Id. at 1171.
  Chrysler failed to establish that there was a “high probability” of substantial harm to the health or safety of others.  Id. at 1172, citing Appendix to Part 1630, Interpretative Guidance on Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 29 C.F.R. §1630.2(r) and 42 U.S.C. §12111(3).  

2.

Darnell Has Introduced Evidence Sufficient To Demonstrate 

That There Is A Genuine Issue Of Material Fact 

As To Whether He Is A Direct Threat.

As the previous section demonstrates, Thermafiber has failed to carry its burden of showing that Darnell posed a direct threat as a matter of law.  Even if the Court accepts Thermafiber’s evidence as suggesting that Darnell did pose a significant safety risk, Darnell has presented sufficient evidence of his own that he did not pose such a risk to raise a genuine issue of material fact.  Darnell has presented uncontroverted evidence that he has successfully lived with the disease for years and worked in the same conditions he would face at Thermafiber, all without ever having any health or job performance problems related to his diabetes. Appendix, pp. 0046 (Darnell Depo., p. 94, ln. 9-15), 0128 (Barrus Depo., p. 25, ln. 15-20), 0146 (McCann Depo. p. 17, ln. 13-16), 0182, 0189, 0194 (Levine Depo., pp. 52, ln. 7-15; 78, ln. 3-8; and 100, ln. 6-9, 17-21), 0241 (¶ 11), 0255 (¶ 111), and 0256 (¶ 117).    See, e.g., Holiday, 206 F.3d at 643 (plaintiff provided evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether he was an “otherwise qualified” individual based on his past experience in similar jobs and his lack of current health problems related to his disability).  

In holding that Darnell had come forward with no evidence either that he was “under control” or that episodes would not occur as a result of his “uncontrolled diabetic condition,” the district court completely discounted Darnell’s undisputed medical history revealing no evidence of any diabetes-related problems or symptoms.  See Memorandum and Order at 15.  Darnell is a generally healthy, physically fit young man.  His medical records show that, while his blood sugar levels had been higher than the target range at certain times in the past, his control was improving in August 2001.  See generally, Appendix, pp. 0050-0101 and 0217-0225.   There is uncontroverted evidence that Darnell has never lost consciousness, been hospitalized, fallen into a coma, had problems with his vision, had any accidents or injuries at work, or shown any other complications or symptoms suggesting that his disease was causing him to be a safety risk.  Appendix, pp. 0189, 0194, 0196 (Levine Depo., pp. 78, ln. 3-8; 100, ln. 6-9; and 108, ln. 19-23), 0256 (¶ 117), and 0258 (¶ 128).   The district court held that this evidence did not raise an issue of fact because Darnell had not presented evidence that his diabetes was controlled, and had not argued that uncontrolled diabetes could not cause adverse health consequences.  See Memorandum and Order at 15.  However, as noted earlier, it is not enough to simply say that Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled” or to recite the risks that may be posed by some people with diabetes.  Thermafiber was required to analyze the level of risk that Darnell specifically posed because of his diabetes, and both Thermafiber and the district court failed to undertake this task.


Darnell was performing substantially the same job at Thermafiber without any problems just three months before his pre-employment physical, and had been performing that job for approximately ten months.  Appendix, pp. 0039 (Darnell Depo., p. 66, ln. 12-15), 0241 (¶ 10), and 0270 (¶ 18).   There is no evidence that his performance was in any way unsatisfactory, or that anyone at Thermafiber perceived his diabetes to be a safety threat at that time.  In fact, Thermafiber recommended him for rehire when he left.  Appendix, pp. 0130 (Barrus Depo., p. 27, ln. 2-6), and 0241 (¶ 12).   After leaving Thermafiber he worked at an outdoor construction job for three months.  Appendix, pp. 0031, 0042, 0046 (Darnell Depo., pp. 33, ln. 10-18; 77, ln. 15-25; 78, ln. 1-12; and 94, ln. 16-18), 0242 (¶ 13-16), and 0309. Darnell performed both jobs without problems or limitations – while using tools, knives and machinery, lifting heavy objects, performing repetitive motions, climbing ladders, and doing other physically demanding tasks.
  This history of successfully functioning in similar environments in spite of his diabetes is evidence that Darnell could have continued to function effectively and safely.  See Chrysler, 917 F. Supp. at 1169 (plaintiff had worked in similar conditions and positions and never had any problem with his diabetes, never had to miss work due to his condition, and never had any problems performing similar work which required physical exertion); Holiday, 206 F.3d at 644 (plaintiff had previously performed the very same duties as the job for which he was applying despite having a disability); Dipol, 999 F. Supp. at 316 (“Plaintiff has never experienced any problems on the job related to his diabetes. Although Defendant speculates as to possible safety concerns posed by Plaintiff's condition, no evidence has been produced demonstrating that Plaintiff's diabetes rendered him incapable of performing his job responsibilities.”)  Although this evidence should, by itself, have been sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact, the district court did not even analyze it in discussing the legal issues.

The district court discounted the objective evidence Darnell presented because it concluded that Darnell’s medical expert, Dr. Levine, had agreed with the medical conclusions of Thermafiber’s expert, Dr. Cavanaugh.
  However, Dr. Levine did not agree that Dr. Cavanaugh’s conclusion that Darnell posed a substantial risk of injury was reasonable.  Dr. Levine stated that the information about Darnell in his medical chart and in Dr. McCann’s boilerplate physical report (the only evidence that Dr. Cavanaugh could have reviewed since he did not personally examine Darnell) was not sufficient to support a reasonable medical finding that Darnell’s diabetes created a significant risk to cause substantial harm to himself or his co-workers at Thermafiber. See Appendix, pp. 0193, 0194, 0197 (Levine Depo., pp. 96, ln. 19-25; 97, ln. 1; 111, ln. 2-25; and 112, ln. 1-22), 0257 (¶ 123), 0259, and 0260 (¶ 139).   It is true that Dr. Levine at one point stated he did not disagree with Dr. Cavanaugh’s conclusion that Darnell’s diabetes was uncontrolled.  Appendix, p. 0203 (Levine Depo., p. 134, ln. 4-20).   However, as noted earlier, there is no consistent, accepted definition of the term “uncontrolled”, and even if Dr. Levine agreed that Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled”, in the sense that he had higher than optimal glucose levels, this fact has no significance in determining whether Darnell actually posed a direct threat.  Once again the district court gave controlling weight to the term “uncontrolled”, without considering its meaning or significance.  The specific evidence regarding Darnell’s current medical condition and past medical history and work history – which this Court must construe in favor of Darnell – does not support the district court’s conclusion that Darnell could not do the job at Thermafiber because of his diabetes.

D.

 Thermafiber’s Reliance On The Medical Opinion 

Of Dr. McCann Is Not Justified Because That Opinion 

Was Not Individualized Or Reasonable.

An employer cannot escape its legal obligations under the ADA by contracting out employee hiring functions to third parties like a doctor.  See Holiday, 206 F.3d at 645.  “[A] physician's endorsement does not provide complete insulation. An employer cannot evade its obligations under the ADA by contracting out personnel functions to third parties -- and this prohibition extends to an employer's attempt to use a preemployment examination as conclusive proof of an applicant's physical capabilities.” Gillen v. Fallon Ambulance Service, Inc., 283 F.3d 11, 31 (1st Cir. 2002).  See also, Holiday, 206 F.3d at 643.  The case law does not support an absolute right of an employer to rely on an outside medical opinion in making a hiring decision.  Rather, courts recognize that, in appropriate circumstances, detailed medical opinions evaluating individual capabilities may be probative evidence as to an applicant’s qualifications and as to an employer’s intent.  See Gillen, 283 F.3d at 31.   However, such an opinion cannot be a shield from ADA liability.  An employer may not escape liability when its reliance on a doctor’s medical determination is unreasonable or in bad faith.  See Bay v. Cassens Transport Co., 212 F.3d 969, 975 n. 2 (7th Cir. 2000); Ragan v. Jeffboat, LLC, 149 F.Supp.2d 1053, 1071 (S.D. Ind. 2001).  

Even if Thermafiber could justifiably rely on Dr. McCann’s opinion, it can do so only if his evaluation of Darnell was conducted with reasonable medical judgment into Darnell’s actual medical condition and the impact it will have on his present ability to safely perform the essential functions of the job he seeks.  Bekker, 229 F.3d at 668.   See also, 29 C.F.R. §1630.2(r).  As the Supreme Court has observed, medical professionals must evaluate the risks posed by individuals with disabilities based on objective scientific and medical evidence, and “courts should assess the objective reasonableness of the views of health care professionals without deferring to their individual judgments.”  Bragdon v. Abbott, 524 U.S. 624, 649-650, 118 S. Ct. 2196, 2210, 141 L.Ed.2d 540 (1998).  See also, Echazabal, 336 F.3d at 1028 (rejecting defendant’s assertion that it could rely on the “facially reasonable” opinions of its own doctors in presenting a direct threat defense).  Therefore, an employer is not entitled to rely on a medical opinion that is “neither based on the individualized inquiry mandated by the ADA nor supported by objective scientific and medical evidence.”   Holiday, 206 F.3d at 645.  

Holiday, a case whose facts are similar to those in this case, provides a good example of how courts view the reasonable medical judgment and individualized assessment required by the ADA.  In that case, the City revoked a job offer to a police candidate with HIV on the basis of a physician’s conclusion, noted on a boilerplate examination form, that the candidate was not capable of safely performing police work because of his HIV status.  Id. at 640-641.  The Sixth Circuit held that the City had no reasonable right to rely on the doctor’s expert medical opinion because there was no indication that the doctor performed the ADA-mandated individualized inquiry.  The doctor failed to investigate Holiday’s symptoms or background and ignored evidence (such as Holiday’s prior performance of similar jobs) that contradicted his conclusions.  Id. at 644, 646.  In reversing the district court’s grant of summary judgment, the Sixth Circuit ruled that it was unreasonable for the City to have relied on its doctor’s report in the absence of any objective medical and scientific evidence.  Id. at 646, 647.  Holiday was entitled to be evaluated based on objective medical evidence and on his particular individual abilities, “and to be protected from discrimination founded on fear, ignorance, or misconceptions.”  Id. at 648.  


The court below relied heavily on Knapp v. Northwestern University, supra, in concluding that it had no obligation to allow a jury to evaluate the reasonableness of Dr. McCann’s determination.  See Memorandum and Order at 16.  However, the holding in Knapp is distinguishable from the present case and demonstrates the difference between a proper medical assessment and what Dr. McCann did in this case.  First, the district court in Knapp had already held what was essentially a trial on the merits and granted a permanent injunction; the issue of what burden the plaintiff should bear to survive a summary judgment motion was not before the Court of Appeals.  101 F.3d at 477.  More importantly, the facts in Knapp underscore the lack of reasonableness and objectivity of Dr. McCann’s decision here.  The Knapp holding emphasizes the thoroughness of Northwestern’s medical assessment, and highlights the things the defendant did in that case which Thermafiber has not done here.  

In cases such as ours, where Northwestern has examined both Knapp and his medical records, has considered his medical history and the relation between his prior sudden cardiac death and the possibility of future occurrences, has considered the severity of the potential injury, and has rationally and reasonably reviewed consensus medical opinions or recommendations in the pertinent field … the university has the right to determine that an individual is not otherwise medically qualified to play without violating the Rehabilitation Act.

Id. at 484.  The contrast between what Northwestern did in Knapp and what Dr. McCann did in this case (particularly in Dr. McCann’s failure to conduct a thorough examination of Darnell or even to consider his medical history) shows that, at a minimum, issues of fact exist as to whether Dr. McCann’s judgment was reasonable.   

1.

  The District Court Impermissibly Discounted 

Or Ignored Evidence In The Record Refuting Thermafiber’s 

Claim That A Proper “Individualized Assessment” Was Accomplished. 

In this case, Dr. McCann failed to gather sufficient medical data on which to base an objective and reasonable decision.  When asked at his deposition what objective evidence supported his opinion, McCann replied, “The objective evidence was that he hadn’t seen the doctor in a long time, his sugar was running too high, and he didn’t care.”  Appendix, p. 0152 (McCann Depo., p. 43, ln. 4-6).   Notably missing from this body of “objective evidence” is any mention of actual medical data.
  Dr. McCann failed to administer blood glucose or A1C tests or to do anything else to follow up on his brief examination of Darnell.  See Holiday, 206 F.3d at 644 (holding that “[t]he doctor’s complete failure to investigate the physical effects, if any, of Holiday’s HIV status raise[d] a genuine issue of material fact as to whether his subsequent opinion was the product of the ADA-mandated individualized inquiry into Holiday’s actual condition.”)  By contrast, in Chrysler, the defendant had actually conducted three blood glucose tests over a three week period before making its decision, but the court still found that “[t]he administration of three blood sugar tests hardly constitutes an individual assessment as contemplated by 29 C.F.R. §1630.2(r).”  Chrysler, 917 F. Supp. at 1171.  See also, McKenzie, 242 F.3d at 975 (failure to give psychological exam to applicant, coupled with her successful prior performance of the job, precluded summary judgment for employer). 

In its ruling that Dr. McCann performed an appropriate individualized assessment of Darnell’s condition, the district court seemed to discount his failure to perform sufficient tests because Darnell could not prove what those additional tests, if performed, would have shown.  See Memorandum and Order at 15.  Darnell does not have the burden to show that the tests Dr. McCann failed to perform would have supported a different conclusion than the one he made.  The issue is what Dr. McCann actually did to determine Darnell’s present ability to perform the essential functions of the job at Thermafiber, and whether Dr. McCann’s actions were the product of reasonable medical judgment.  The fact that it is impossible to know for certain what the tests, which were not performed, would have shown does not make Dr. McCann any more reasonable for not having performed them.  Moreover, Dr. McCann did not simply fail to have useful and informative tests administered.  He failed to collect basic information he could have easily obtained.  Other than asking a few general questions about Darnell’s diabetes, the responses to which did not indicate he was a safety risk, Dr. McCann did almost nothing to assess Darnell’s current ability to perform the duties of the job at Thermafiber.  See, e.g., Appendix, pp. 0345-0347 (Darnell’s Affidavit).  Dr. McCann did not review Darnell’s medical chart or medical history (which he could have easily obtained from Dr. Levine, who worked in the same medical group) or investigate his prior work history.  Id.  See Dipol, 999 F. Supp. at 316 (court held, with regard to a “cursory” pre-employment examination like the one Dr. McCann did, “The administration of the physicals and the tests conducted during Plaintiff's examinations do not constitute an individualized assessment as contemplated by 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r).”).  Dr. McCann did not assess Darnell’s functional capacities, and he did not physically examine Darnell to determine his limitations, if any.
  Appendix, pp. 0345-0347.  In fact, Dr. McCann made it clear that he did not feel obligated to undertake any investigation of Darnell’s physical condition or safety.  When asked if his conversation with Darnell raised concerns that would prompt him to look at Darnell’s chart, he responded, “No.  I’m not [going to] baby-sit this guy.  I’m not gonna go after his chart.  Thermafiber said look at this guy [and] decide what to do, [so] I decided.”  Appendix, p. 0150 (McCann Depo., p. 34, ln. 2-4).   Dr. McCann, then, was clearly unwilling to perform the kind of individualized inquiry into the facts of the case that could lead to reasonable medical judgment.
   

Thermafiber blindly accepted Dr. McCann’s opinion that Darnell could not do the job because of alleged “uncontrolled diabetes mellitus” without ensuring that the doctor’s medical assessment fairly and reasonably supported the opinion.  See Appendix, pp. 0127 (Barrus Depo., p. 24, ln. 1-10), 0153 (McCann Depo., p. 47, ln. 6-25), and 0243 (¶ 24).  In fact, Thermafiber contributed to Dr. McCann’s failure to perform a reasonable and individualized assessment.  Dr. McCann testified that he did not take a blood glucose test because Thermafiber did not ask him to take such a test and did not offer to pay for it.  Appendix, p. 0149 (McCann Depo., p. 31, ln. 10-12) (“Thermafiber didn’t ask me to check any blood.  Thermafiber didn’t pay to have Mr. Darnell’s blood checked.”).  See also, Appendix, p. 0150 (McCann Depo., p. 33, ln. 7-11) (Thermafiber did not ask him to review Darnell’s chart).  Thermafiber cannot limit a doctor’s medical inquiry because of cost concerns and later attempt to rely on the resulting medical opinion as “reasonable”.

Throughout its Memorandum and Order, the district court refers to Darnell’s “poor judgment” as part of its basis for finding that harm could occur at any time.  See Memorandum and Order at 7, 16.  Dr. McCann and the court essentially argue that, because Darnell did not take better care of his diabetes, he has “poor judgment” and is therefore a direct threat.  See Appendix, p. 0150 (McCann Depo., p. 33, ln. 12-22).  However, Darnell’s “judgment” in this sense is irrelevant.  Where, as here, the evidence does not show that a person with diabetes, with his current level of control, poses a significant risk, his failure to maintain better control, in the guise of an argument about his “judgment”, cannot render him a direct threat.  

The facts before the district court do not show that Darnell had “poor judgment” in any general or abstract sense; they show at most that, at times in the past, he has not complied with all of his doctor’s (Dr. Levine’s) instructions for treating and managing his diabetes, and may not have controlled his condition as well as he could have.
  However, no negative health consequences have been suffered by Darnell as a result, and there is no evidence that Darnell exercised poor judgment in any situations related to safety, or that his judgment put anyone at risk.  The evidence shows that he had sufficient judgment to manage his disease well enough to avoid short term complications such as hypoglycemic episodes.  Conclusory statements that a person with a disability shows “poor judgment” in the manner in which he cares for his health should not be permitted to serve as evidence that such a person poses a safety threat.  Allowing such evidence would give courts and employers license to make decisions based not on individualized assessment of risk, but on their own notions of what is acceptable medical self-care.  Darnell’s alleged poor judgment in not exercising optimal diabetes management cannot be seen as a surrogate for bad judgment generally.  Many individuals in the general population exercise less than perfect judgment regarding their health and lifestyle habits.  Many employees are overweight or smoke, both of which unquestionably lead to a much greater risk for a myriad of health complications, and neither of which demonstrate that a person does not have the judgment necessary to be an operator at Thermafiber or the CEO of a large corporation.  Darnell should not be held to a higher standard simply because he has diabetes.

VII.

CONCLUSION


Summary judgment should only be granted where no reasonable jury could render a verdict in Darnell’s favor based on the designated evidence.  Thermafiber failed to carry its burden of proving Darnell was a direct threat.  A jury could reasonably find that, taking into account Darnell’s work history and Thermafiber’s lack of information about Darnell’s medical history, Thermafiber had failed to establish that Darnell was a significant risk to cause substantial harm to himself or his co-workers.


The evidence in the record shows that Dr. McCann’s pre-employment physical examination of Darnell was not even a minimally-adequate individualized assessment and that Thermafiber unreasonably relied on Dr. McCann’s opinion in rescinding its offer of employment to Darnell.  Far from disregarding all evidence favorable to the moving party that the jury is not required to believe, the district court ignored Darnell’s evidence and made many impermissible inferences in favor of Thermafiber.  


Darnell was fully capable of working safely at Thermafiber performing a job he had successfully done for nearly a year.  He has a right to be protected from discrimination based on stereotypes and baseless fears, and to be individually assessed on his ability to perform work at Thermafiber safely.  The decision of the district court granting Thermafiber’s motion for summary judgment should be reversed and the case should be remanded for further proceedings.
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� The physical requirements for both the Operator 1 and Operator 2 positions at Thermafiber are essentially the same.  Neither the written job descriptions nor the listing of essential requirements for the Operator 1 and Operator 2 positions refer to, or warn about, high temperatures in the factory. Appendix, pp. 0149 (McCann Depo., pp. 31, ln. 16-25 and 32, ln. 1-2), 0242 (¶18), 0273 (¶28), 0280 (¶8), 0281 (¶9), 0289, and 0291-0295.





�  Darnell had been seen by Dr. Levine as his treating physician since February 22, 1999.  Dr. Levine practiced in the same medical group, and in the same office, as Dr. McCann.  Appendix, pp. 0172, and 0176 (Levine Depo, pp. 12, ln. 20-21; 27, ln. 20-25; and 28, ln.1).  





�  This test measures the amount of glucose (sugar) in the urine, and can in some circumstances give a very rough estimate of the amount of glucose in the blood at a given time.  On this test Darnell scored a “3+”, which indicated that his urine glucose level was elevated. Appendix, pp. 0242-0243 (¶ 19), 0248 (¶63), 0271-0272 (¶¶ 22-23), and 0329 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 27, ln. 10-15 and 28, ln. 2-4).   However, as will be further discussed herein, this test result does not provide useful information about Darnell’s ability to perform his job safely.


�  Darnell had last seen Dr. Levine on April 24, 2001.  On that visit, he had blood glucose and A1C readings that were higher than the target range for a person with Type 1 diabetes for the purpose of avoiding long term complications from the disease.  Dr. Levine instructed him to return in one month for a follow up visit.  Appendix, p. 0221.  However, Darnell was unable to schedule another doctor visit because in May 2001 he went to Mississippi to start his new job, which did not provide health insurance.  See Appendix, p. 0030 (Darnell Depo., pp. 29, ln. 20-25; 30, ln. 1; and 32, ln. 1-6).


� Almost immediately thereafter in August of 2001, Darnell went to work at Martin Yale Industries, Inc., a factory in Wabash, Indiana.  At Martin Yale, Darnell operated a drilling machine and he received a favorable evaluation and a raise in wages.  Appendix, pp. 0247 (¶ 56), 0248 (¶ 57), and 0310.





�  Dr. Cavanaugh never met with or saw Darnell as a patient.  Dr. Cavanaugh merely reviewed Darnell’s medical chart. Appendix, pp. 0248 (¶ 59), and 0328 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 24, ln. 2-11).


� In Dr. Levine’s opinion, “uncontrolled” means that the patient’s A1C level is nowhere near normal, his blood sugars are always very high, he has complications, and he is frequently being hospitalized.  Appendix, pp. 0190 (Levine Depo., p. 81, ln. 2-7), and 0256 (¶ 118).  





�  While other courts have suggested that the plaintiff may bear the burden on the direct threat issue in at least some cases, the district court in this case indicated that the defendant should bear the burden of proof.  See Memorandum and Order at 4-5 (citing cases but ultimately deciding that Darnell could establish a prima facie case under the ADA).  Moreover, in the present case, Darnell has introduced sufficient evidence that he is not a direct threat to raise a genuine issue of fact and survive summary judgment, regardless of which side ultimately bears the burden of proof.   


�  Thermafiber sometimes argued below that it should be allowed to exclude Darnell because, due to the safety risk he might pose, he was not qualified for the position he sought or he could not perform the essential functions of that position.  However, Thermafiber nowhere suggests that the standards applied to such arguments based on safety concerns are any different than the analysis under the direct threat defense.  Therefore, this brief will discuss Thermafiber’s safety-based arguments under the direct threat defense, as the issue was correctly characterized by the district court.


�  There is also evidence in the record that Dr. McCann’s determination that Darnell’s diabetes was “uncontrolled” was based in large part on Darnell’s failure to see his family doctor (Dr. Levine) as often as he should and to fully comply with Dr. Levine’s instructions.  See Appendix, p. 0151 (McCann Depo., pp. 39, ln. 25 and 40, ln.1) (stating that if Darnell were “a fully compliant diabetic that demonstrated good judgment” McCann might have cleared him to work at Thermafiber).  While it is of course beneficial for every person to see a doctor when needed and comply with that doctor’s instructions, the ADA’s protections do not depend on whether an individual complies with a doctor’s treatment regimen to that doctor’s satisfaction.  The focus, again, is on whether Darnell posed a direct threat, and whether he was in full compliance with his doctor’s instructions is not relevant to this question given the evidence in the record that he had functioned for years without any diabetes-related problems.





� Both Dr. McCann and Dr. Cavanaugh admitted that urine glucose tests correlate poorly with blood glucose levels and are poor indicators of the current status of a person’s diabetes.  Appendix, pp. 0146, 0147 (McCann Depo., pp. 20, ln. 16-22 and 21, ln. 14-25), 0329, and 0330 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 27, ln. 10-25; 28, ln. 1-19; 29, ln. 16-25; and 30, ln. 1-6).


 


�  The only medical, objective information available to Dr. McCann at the time he made his recommendation was the urine glucose test result, since he chose not to look at Darnell’s medical records or conduct any blood tests.  Appendix, pp. 0144, 0150 (McCann Depo., pp. 12, ln. 12-14; 13, ln. 7-16; and 33, ln. 7-11), and 0245 (¶¶ 37, 46).   As Dr. McCann did not perform the ADA-mandated individualized assessment of Darnell, evidence Thermafiber may have later acquired about Darnell’s medical condition during litigation cannot excuse this failure.  We discuss these additional test results offered by Thermafiber here simply to show that, even had Dr. McCann done all that was reasonable in evaluating Darnell, the evidence would not have shown that Darnell was a direct threat.





�  The ADA requires an individualized assessment of the risk Darnell posed at the time the employment decision was made.  Koshinski v. Decatur Foundry, Inc., 177 F.3d 599, 602 (7th Cir. 1999).  Therefore, the fact that Darnell may have had more difficulty controlling his blood glucose at some time in the past is irrelevant.





� For example, Dr. Cavanaugh stated that an A1C reading of 10.2 (the most recent A1C reading available for Darnell when Thermafiber made its decision) corresponds to an average blood glucose level of about 220.  Appendix, p. 0339 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 68, ln. 18-23).  He said that in general a person’s blood glucose level would have to be about 400 before he would become concerned about mental impairment resulting from hyperglycemia.  Appendix, p. 0339 (Cavanaugh Depo., p. 67, ln. 11-21).  As noted earlier, Darnell had a significantly lower A1C level measured shortly after Thermafiber made its decision. 


�  In fact, Dr. McCann testified that the heat inside the plant was his only concern relating to the working conditions at Thermafiber.  See Appendix, pp. 0150, 0152, and 0153 (McCann Depo., pp. 35, ln. 2-25; 36, ln. 1-5; 44, ln. 22-25; and 45, ln. 1-4) (stating that heat is the reason he has concerns about Darnell doing tasks at Thermafiber such as climbing ladders, and that temperature, sugar control and judgment are the critical concerns in determining whether a person with diabetes is safe to work).  





�  The district court makes much of the fact that Darnell testified that “as a diabetic he shouldn’t be working in high temperatures.”  See Memorandum and Order at 12.  Whatever Darnell may have meant by this statement, he clearly did not mean that he felt the temperatures at Thermafiber created a safety risk.  He was aware of the temperatures in the Thermafiber plant, having worked there for nearly a year without complaint or incident.





�  Reasonable accommodations under the ADA include “job restructuring, part-time or modified work schedules … acquisition or modification of equipment or devices, appropriate adjustment or modifications of examinations, training materials or policies … and other similar accommodations for individuals with disabilities.”  Hoffman v. Caterpillar, Inc., 256 F.3d 568, 572 (7th Cir. 2001), reh. denied, quoting 42 U.S.C. §12111(9); Erjavac v. Holy Family Health Plus, 13 F.Supp.2d 737, 749 (N.D. Ill. 1998).





�  Thermafiber could also have provided Darnell with the accommodations it apparently provided him during his prior employment: an opportunity to monitor his blood glucose level at work and access to some type of sugar source when needed.  See Appendix, p. 0331 (Cavanaugh Depo., pp. 33, ln. 18-25 and 34, ln. 1-4).   





� In the Memorandum and Order, the district court made an inference in favor of Thermafiber by doing what neither of Thermafiber’s doctors did: namely, determining the likelihood of potential harm.  See Memorandum and Order at 17 (“… and although there is no way to predict to a medical certainty the likelihood or imminence of potential harm, given Mr. Darnell’s uncontrolled condition and poor judgment in that regard, as noted by all three doctors in this case, it appears likely that harm could occur at any time.”).  





� As noted earlier, in this case Thermafiber obtained no blood glucose test results prior to rendering its decision.


� The record shows that Darnell’s A1C level was higher in April 2001, during his first employment at Thermafiber, than it was in August 2001.  Appendix, pp. 0220-0221.   This suggests that his blood glucose levels were closer to the target range in August 2001 than they had been when he was performing the job successfully and safely.  





�  The district court seems to have conceived of the case primarily as a battle of medical experts and focused unduly on the finer details of the medical testimony offered by Drs. Levine, Cavanaugh and McCann.  See Memorandum and Order at 16.  In doing so it ignored or discounted the other objective evidence in the record showing that Darnell did not pose a direct threat, including his past job performance.  The ADA direct threat inquiry envisions consideration not only of medical evidence but of other objective evidence as well.  29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(r). 


�  The only support that Dr. McCann had for his determination that Darnell’s blood glucose levels were “high” was that Darnell told him.  Dr. McCann did not know how high those readings had been or when they had been taken.


� See Chrysler, 917 F. Supp. at 1171 (Chrysler’s doctor did not ask the plaintiff about his past or current health, whether he was having any diabetes-related complications, whether he was having any common symptoms of diabetes, or whether he had had any symptoms or complications while working).  





�  In Holiday, the Sixth Circuit placed some weight on the form in which the doctor expressed his conclusions.  It held that the City had no right to rely on its doctor’s “unsubstantiated and cursory medical opinion,” which was characterized by the appellate court as “…two scribbled lines at the bottom of a boilerplate examination form.”  206 F.3d at 646.  Dr. McCann’s report consists only of three scribbled words at the bottom of a boilerplate examination form. Appendix, p. 0166.   


�  Dr. McCann seems to have relied primarily on his subjective impressions of Darnell, rather than his objective medical history, in determining that he had poor judgment.  He testified that this determination was based on Darnell’s “almost refusal to get medical care unless forced, [h]is anger at suggesting his diabetes needed to be better controlled, [and] his assumption that [his] sugar is good enough when it is not under good control.”  Appendix, p. 0150 (McCann Depo., p. 33, ln. 19-22).   It could not have been based on medical data, of which Dr. McCann had almost none; rather, it seems that the doctor simply did not like Darnell.
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